RECEIVED

07-13-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP0896-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL LEE BRAYSON,
Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLY M. CUSACK State Bar No. 1096479

KAITLIN A. LAMB State Bar No. 1085026 Assistant State Public Defenders

735 N. Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 414-227-4805/ cusackc@opd.wi.gov Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS	
ARGUMENT6	
I. The Domestic Abuse Modifiers Must Be Stricken and the Surcharges Must Be Vacated Because the Record Does Not Establish that Mr. Brayson and L.R. Resided Together Under WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075 and 973.055	
B. Standard of Review8	
C. Mr. Brayson's relationship with L.R. does not meet the required criterion for the imposition of the domestic abuse modifier or the domestic abuse surcharge.	
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH15	
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12)	
CERTIFICATION AS TO APPENDIX16	
APPENDIX	

CASES CITED

Bray v. Gateway Ins. Co.,
2010 WI App 22, 323 Wis. 2d 421, 779 N.W.2d
6958
People v. Holifield,
205 Cal.App.3d 993 (1989)12
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.,
2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 1108
State v. Kirch,
222 Wis. 2d 598, 587 N.W.2d 919
(Ct. App. 1998)8
State v. Tripp,
795 P.2d 280 (Haw. 1990)12
State v. Woods,
117 Wis. 2d 701, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984)8
STATUTES CITED
Wisconsin Statutes
252.16(1)(e)9
46.27(1)(d)9
49.001(6)9
55.01(6t)9
6.10(1)9
6.10(2)9

752.31(2)
752.31(3)
809.23(4)(b)1
939.32
939.50(3)(c)1
939.51(3)(a)1
940.19(1)
940.225(2)(a)1
968.075
968.075(1)
968.075(1)(a)
973.055
973.055(1)4, 5, 7
973.055(1)(a)7
980.105(1)(a)9
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED
Black's Law Dictionary 907 (abridged 6th ed. 1991)4, 10
http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/reside 10
http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/us/definition/americ an_english/reside9

State of Wisconsin Department of Transportation,
"Acceptable Documents for Proof of Wisconsin
Residency," available at
http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/dmv/license-
drvs/how-to-apply/residency.aspx11
State of Wisconsin Government Accountability Board,
"Proof of Residence for Voter Registration"
guide, available at
http://www.gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/publica-
tion/154/27_28_proof_of_residence_pdf_21278.
pdf11

ISSUE PRESENTED

Were there sufficient facts to establish that Mr. Brayson and L.R. resided together in a qualifying domestic relationship to support the imposition of the domestic abuse modifiers and the domestic abuse surcharges pursuant to WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075 and 973.055?

The circuit court said no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Brayson was convicted of two misdemeanor offenses, and therefore, this case will be decided by a single judge pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 752.31(2) and (3). Pursuant to WIS. STAT. RULE 809.23(4)(b), publication is not warranted. Mr. Brayson believes the briefs will fully present the issues raised, but welcomes oral argument if this Court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 6, 2015, the State charged Mr. Brayson with: (1) attempted second degree sexual assault, domestic abuse, in violation of WIS. STAT. §§ 940.225(2)(a), 939.50(3)(c), 939.32, 968.075(1)(a); (2) second degree sexual assault in violation of WIS. STAT. §§ 940.225(2)(a), 939.50(3)(c), 968.075(1)(a); and (3) misdemeanor battery, domestic abuse, in violation of WIS. STAT. §§ 940.19(1), 939.51(3)(a), 968.075(1)(a). (R.2:1-2; App.101-102).

According to the criminal complaint, Oak Creek police stopped L.R. and Mr. Brayson on Interstate 94 after receiving

calls reporting Mr. Brayson was arguing with L.R. at a travel stop, and that he hit L.R. with a closed fist in the head and chest multiple times. (R.2:2-3; App.102-103). The complaint alleged L.R. was a cross-country semi-truck driver and that her boyfriend, Mr. Brayson, lived with her in her truck. (R.2:2; App.102). L.R. told police that she and Mr. Brayson got into an argument after Mr. Brayson came back to the truck, and "appeared to be drunk." (R.2:2; App.102). L.R. stated that she told Mr. Brayson she had to work when he wanted to have sexual intercourse with her, and that upon her refusal, Mr. Brayson ripped L.R.'s shorts and removed her underwear, and attempted to have mouth-to-vagina contact with her. (R.2:2; App.102).

L.R. further stated that when she received a phone call from her employer regarding complaints about Mr. Brayson's behavior at the travel stop, Mr. Brayson pulled her hair, placed his hands around her neck, tried to get her phone away from her, and ordered her to drive away from the truck stop. (R.2:2; App.102). L.R. complied, and Mr. Brayson then removed his clothes and asked L.R. for mouth-to-penis contact. (R.2:2; App.102). When L.R. refused, Mr. Brayson grabbed her breasts. (R.2:2; App.102). Police stopped the vehicle shortly thereafter. (R.2:2; App.102).

Mr. Brayson pled guilty on August 26, 2015 to two amended counts of misdemeanor battery, each with the domestic abuse modifier pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 968.075(1)(a). (R.16; 29:10; App.104).

At the plea hearing, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom asked whether the facts in the complaint were substantially true and correct. (R.29:7). Mr. Brayson's trial counsel noted, and Mr. Brayson confirmed, that he denied engaging in any of the behavior that was the basis for the sexual assault

charges, but admitted everything else. (R.29:8). The circuit court then sought and received confirmation that it could use the facts as stated in the criminal complaint, with the above-described caveat, as the factual basis for Mr. Brayson's guilty pleas. (R.29:9).

At the August 31, 2015 sentencing hearing, the State noted L.R. was an "over-the-road truck driver" and that "the cab was her home and Mr. Brayson was on her route with her and apparently had been. The two of them had been together as she reports for a period of time." (R.30:4-5; App.106-107). The circuit court asked the attorneys about the parties' relationship:

The Court: And so in terms of meeting the statutory

prerequisites for the domestic violence surcharge, do they have any children in

common?

State: They do not have any children in

common. They were boyfriend and girlfriend. They were residing in her

cab.

The Court: Is that where she lived when she was

working?

State: So my understanding is she did keep a

residence in a state down south but she was on the road most of the year so that was what she told me she considered her

home.

The Court: And do you know did she stay in hotels

or did she pretty much sleep on the

truck?

State: My understanding was that this cab was equipped for sleeping in the cab because she was over-the-road....

(R.30:7-8; App.107). Defense counsel added that Mr. Brayson "has been with [L.R.] as boyfriend and girlfriend for a number of years now down in Mississippi. My understanding is that they have separate addresses, that they live separately in Mississippi, however, he travels with her when she goes on the road for her job." (R.30:8; App.107). Toward the end of the sentencing hearing, the circuit court determined Mr. Brayson's relationship with L.R. was "a relationship that fits under the domestic violence statute." You were girlfriend and boyfriend. You were romantically involved and I find that [the] truck was in fact your moving home that you shared together for significant periods of time throughout the year." (R.30:16-17; App.109).

Mr. Brayson filed a postconviction motion on February 11, 2016, asking the circuit court to vacate the domestic abuse surcharges and to strike the domestic abuse modifiers from the judgment of conviction. (R.17). Mr. Brayson argued that he did not reside with L.R. within the meaning of WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075(1)(a) and 973.055(1). (R.17:3-6).

The circuit court ordered further briefing from the parties, and in a written decision and order dated April 7, 2016, denied Mr. Brayson's motion for postconviction relief. (R.18; 21; App.111). The circuit court concluded neither domestic abuse statute at issue provided a definition for the term "residence," or limited what could qualify as a residence. (R.21:3; App.113). It looked to Black's Law Dictionary for its definition of "residence" and concluded:

The victim used the truck as her home while she was on the road for her job. Although she and the defendant had separate addresses in Mississippi, they lived together in the truck while the victim was on the road for work trips. The victim was on the road most of the year and considered the truck to be her home. It was not necessary to establish how long the victim's work trips last on average, how often the defendant accompanied the victim on work trips, how many trips they took together per year, when they began dating or when they began their arrangement of traveling in the same truck together. Establishment of a residence, while involving intent to make a home for an indefinite period, does not require intent to remain in the residence for any particular length of time, nor does it require that a victim have only one residence at a time. It is sufficient that the victim intended to use the truck as her home during the periods that she was on the road for work, and during those periods that the defendant shared the truck with her, they resided together for purposes of sections 968.075(1)(a) and 973.055(1), Stats.

(R.21:4; App.114).

The court further found its interpretation of the statutes was consistent with legislative policy as well as interpretations from other jurisdictions. (R.21:4-5; App.114-15). The circuit court was persuaded by the notion that it was the nature of the relationship, not where the parties resided, that was relevant. (R.21:5; App.115). This appeal follows. (R.22).

ARGUMENT

I. The Domestic Abuse Modifiers Must Be Stricken and the Surcharges Must Be Vacated Because the Record Does Not Establish that Mr. Brayson and L.R. Resided Together Under WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075 and 973.055.

A. Introduction.

At issue in this case are two statutes: one which governs domestic abuse modifiers, and another providing for domestic abuse surcharges. WISCONSIN STAT. § 968.075 delineates what constitutes a domestic abuse relationship for purposes of the domestic abuse modifier, as well as the definition for domestic abuse:

- (1) Definitions. In this section:
- (a) "Domestic abuse" means any of the following engaged in by an adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the person has a child in common:
- 1. Intentional infliction of physical pain, physical injury or illness.
- 2. Intentional impairment of physical condition.
- 3. A violation of s. 940.225(1),(2) or (3).
- 4. A physical act that may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in the conduct described under sub. 1, 2 or 3.

In turn, the domestic abuse surcharge statute contains a fundamentally identical definition of what constitutes a relationship that will fall under its purview. WISCONSIN STAT. § 973.055(1) states, in relevant part, that a court that "imposes a sentence on an adult person or places an adult person on probation...shall impose a domestic abuse surcharge under Ch. 814 of \$100 for each offense if:"

- (a) 1. The court convicts the person of a violation of a crime specified in ...940.19...and
- 2. The court finds that the conduct constituting the violation under subd. 1. involved an act by the adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the adult person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the adult person has created a child....

The domestic abuse modifiers and domestic abuse surcharges should not have been applied to Mr. Brayson's two convictions for misdemeanor battery in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1). It is undisputed that Mr. Brayson was convicted of offenses to which the domestic abuse modifier and surcharge can apply, that Mr. Brayson and L.R. have never been married, and that they do not have any children together.

Thus, this appeal centers around the meaning of the term "resides" as it is used in both the domestic abuse modifier and domestic abuse surcharge statutes. Because Mr. Brayson and L.R. did not "reside" together within the meaning of the statutes, their relationship does not fall under one of the qualifying relationships demarcated in the domestic abuse statutes. *See* WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075(1)(a) and 973.055(1)(a)2. Accordingly, the domestic abuse

modifiers should be stricken from the judgment of conviction and the surcharges should be vacated.

B. Standard of Review.

This Court must interpret WIS. STAT. §§ 968.075 and 973.055 and apply those statutes to the facts of this case as found by the circuit court. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Kirch*, 222 Wis. 2d 598, 602, 587 N.W.2d 919 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court will only reverse the circuit court's findings of facts if they are clearly erroneous. *Bray v. Gateway Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI App 22, ¶11, 323 Wis. 2d 421, 779 N.W.2d 695.

Statutory language is generally given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. It is interpreted in the context in which it is used, and to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. *Id.*, ¶46. In addition, the common and approved usage of a word in a statute may be ascertained by reference to a recognized dictionary. *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 735-36, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984).

C. Mr. Brayson's relationship with L.R. does not meet the required criterion for the imposition of the domestic abuse modifier or the domestic abuse surcharge.

The record in this case does not support the conclusion that Mr. Brayson and L.R. resided together within the statutory or ordinary meaning of the word "reside." The criminal complaint, on which the circuit court relied for the factual basis for Mr. Brayson's guilty pleas, stated that L.R. told police she and Mr. Brayson were in a dating relationship

and that they lived in her semi-truck. (R.2:2; App.102). However, sleeping together in a truck for an unknown period of time while traveling for work is insufficient to show that the couple "resided" together, and therefore, is insufficient to establish they have a qualifying relationship under the domestic abuse statutes.

While neither of the domestic abuse statutes at issue define "residence," other Wisconsin statutes provide guidance on the definition of this term. For example, WIS. STAT. § 6.10(1) governs "elector residence" and states that "the residence of a person is the place where the person's habitation is fixed, without any present intent to move, and to which, when absent, the person intends to return." Subsection (2) observes that if a married person's "family place" is "temporary or for transient purposes, it is not the residence." WIS. STAT. § 6.10(2). Similarly, a survey of other statutory sections reveals that WIS. STAT. \$\$ 46.27(1)(d), 49.001(6), 55.01(6t), 252.16(1)(e) and 980.105(1)(a), among others, all define—with variations—a "residence" as "the voluntary concurrence of physical presence with intent to remain in a place of fixed habitation. Physical presence is prima facie evidence of intent to remain."

Further, looking to dictionary definitions, the word "reside" denotes permanence, longevity, an intent to remain. The Oxford Dictionaries, online, defines "reside" as: "Have one's permanent home in a particular place." The Merriam-Webster dictionary, also online, defines "reside" first with regards to incumbency of an office, and secondly in the following way: "to dwell permanently or continuously:

¹Available at http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/us/definition/american_english/reside.

occupy a place as one's legal domicile." Similarly, Black's Law Dictionary 907 (abridged 6th ed. 1991), which the circuit court cited in its decision, defines a "residence" as:

[p]lace where one actually lives or has his home; a person's dwelling place or place of habitation; an abode; house where one's home is; a dwelling house. Personal presence at some place of abode with no present intention of definite and early removal and with purpose to remain for undetermined period, not infrequently, but not necessarily combined with design to stay permanently.

(R.21:3-4; App.113-14).

Contrary to the statutory and dictionary definitions of "reside" and "residence," Mr. Brayson's and L.R.'s temporary living situation in a truck while on the road is transient and does not constitute "residing." The complaint lists Mr. Brayson's address as 1168 West Union Road, Carriere, Mississippi. (R.2:1; App.101). It provides no information about L.R.'s residence other than her statement to police that she lived in her semi-truck. (R.2; App.101-103). However, defense counsel noted at sentencing that L.R. and Mr. Brayson lived at separate addresses in Mississippi. (R.30:8; App.107). Maintaining separate permanent residences, but traveling together for an undetermined period of time in a truck that had sleeping quarters is insufficient to constitute a qualifying relationship under the domestic abuse statutes. It is unlikely that Mr. Brayson or L.R. could use the semi-truck as their residence for purposes of obtaining a

² Available at http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/reside.

driver's license (requires proof of residence),³ voter registration (same),⁴ or receiving a paycheck or bills. Consequently, they should not be considered to reside together in the semi-truck for purposes of the domestic abuse surcharge and modifier.

The explicit defining of qualifying relationships in the domestic abuse modifier and surcharge statutes indicates a legislative desire to limit their application to specific relationships that involve some level of commitment. The legislature provided limitations, recognizing that not all living situations would constitute domestic abuse.

Had L.R.'s truck not contained a makeshift bed in the back, Mr. Brayson and L.R. likely would have had to stay overnight in hotels while on the road —plainly a temporary living situation. Extending the circuit court's logic from this case could mean that two friends who sleep in the back of a van while on a summer road trip could be considered to "reside" together for purposes of the domestic abuse statutes, should trouble arise in the friendship in the future. Likewise, two adults who go camping and share a tent could be considered to "reside" together. This is illogical, and creates an absurd result. See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶46 (this Court

³ See the State of Wisconsin Division of Motor Vehicle's requirements for proving Wisconsin residency for purposes of obtaining a driver's license, *available at*: http://wisconsindot.gov/Pages/dmv/license-drvs/how-to-apply/residency.aspx

⁴ See the State of Wisconsin Government Accountability Board's guide to proof of residence documents that can be used when registering to vote in Wisconsin, *available at*: http://www.gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/publication/154/27_28_proof_o f_residence_pdf_21278.pdf

interprets statutory language to avoid absurd or unreasonable results).

In its decision, the circuit court discussed the legislative history of the domestic abuse surcharge statute. (R.21:4-5; App.114-15). That history, however, merely explains the creation and funding of the surcharge, and does not answer the question of the interpretation of "resides" nor provides any context for its meaning in the domestic abuse statutes at issue.

The circuit court also referred to cases from other jurisdictions for the proposition that "residing together" has been interpreted broadly. (R.21:5; App.115). However, the cases it cited are distinguishable. In *People v. Holifield*, 205 Cal.App.3d 993 (1989), the court interpreted the term "cohabiting"—not "residing." In State v. Tripp, 795 P.2d 280 (Haw. 1990), the court found there was sufficient evidence to establish the parties had formerly resided together. In *Tripp*, the victim testified that the defendant lived with her for approximately three and one-half months in a house she was taking care of for its owner. *Id.* at 282. Evidence was elicited during trial that the defendant kept clothes at the house, "did laundry there, had meals there, and slept there, and that these activities occurred on a continuous basis." *Id.* In addition, during this time, the victim became pregnant. *Id*. Accordingly, the court held there was sufficient evidence that the parties had formerly resided in the same dwelling unit, based on the victim's testimony. *Id.* at 283.

No such evidence exists here. No testimony was taken regarding the living situation, and the record does not provide sufficient evidence otherwise to establish that Mr. Brayson and L.R. resided together while traveling in her semi-truck. The record does not reflect how often Mr. Brayson traveled

with L.R., how long L.R.'s work trips lasted, or when this situation first began. (R.2; App.101-103). That they had been on L.R.'s route together is meaningless without greater specificity, which does not exist in this record. (R.30:5; App.107). Instead, the record shows that Mr. Brayson and L.R. had separate residences despite sleeping under the same roof while traveling.

Altogether, there was not enough information available to support the imposition of the domestic abuse modifiers and surcharges. Mr. Brayson's conduct did not meet the statutory requirements because there is not sufficient support for the finding that he and L.R. were in a qualifying relationship by residing together.

CONCLUSION

Because the record is insufficient to establish Mr. Brayson resided with L.R. within the meaning of the statute, it thus fails to fulfill the statutory definitions of domestic abuse from §§ 968.075(1) and 973.055. This Court should reject the circuit court's conclusion, and strike the modifiers from the judgment of conviction and vacate the surcharges.