RECEIVED

09-30-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2016AP000896-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL LEE BRAYSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Jesica Ann Ballenger Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1079301 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. This court should decline to strike any reference to Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) from Brayson's judgment of conviction because the notation has no effect on Brayson's conviction.

Being convicted of a crime that is noted on the judgment of conviction as an act of domestic abuse under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) has no ramifications. Unlike traditional modifiers or penalty enhancers, Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) does not affect criminal liability or punishment for the person accused of domestic abuse. As this court previously concluded:

While Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) appears in the court documents, the statute entitled 'Domestic abuse incidents; arrest and prosecution,' plainly governs law enforcement procedures in domestic abuse cases. It does not create criminal liability for the domestic abuse perpetrator.

State v. Neis, No. 2009AP1287-CR, ¶ 15, unpublished slip op (WI App. July 15, 2010) (App. 113-122). *See also, State v. O'Boyle*, No. 2013AP1004-CR, ¶ 14, unpublished slip op. (WI App. Feb. 4, 2014) (App. 123-134).

This distinction has been accepted and relied upon for the proposition that the Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) notation does not establish that a defendant was convicted of an offense of "domestic abuse." *United States v. Gonzalez-Mancilla*, 551 F. App'x 128, 132 (5th Cir. 2014) (unpublished) (App. 135-141). See also, Bradley v. Flynn, No. 13-cv-859-bbc, slip op, at *4 (W.D. Wis. Jan. 9, 2015) (unpublished) (App. 101-105). Rather, the use of Wis. Stat. §968.075(1)(a) in court documents denotes that specific law enforcement procedures were followed and flags the case to alert the court and the parties that Wis. Stat. §§ 939.621, 973.055, or 973.09(2)(a)1.b.¹ may be applicable. Thus, it is primarily a tool of judicial economy.

In contrast to Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a), Wis. Stat. § 939.621 was created to enhance the maximum sentence for those who commit repeated acts of domestic abuse. Under Wis. Stat. § 939.621, the penalty enhancer cannot be applied to the underlying crime unless the defendant's action also fell within the statutory definition of domestic abuse under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a). See Wis. Stat. § 939.621(2). In other words, if a crime is charged with the enhancer under Wis. Stat. § 939.621, additional facts need to be established. However, it is Wis. Stat. § 939.621, not Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) that operates as the enhancer. (R2:1). Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) merely contains the definition for an act of domestic abuse. In this matter, the State did not charge Brayson with the domestic abuse enhancer. Thus, the only statute triggered by Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) was the domestic abuse surcharge in Wis. Stat. 973.055.

Like Wis. Stat. § 939.621, the imposition of the domestic abuse surcharge under Wis. Stat. § 973.055 depends on additional facts: whether the defendant committed one of the enumerated offenses and the nature of the relationship between the defendant and the victim. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 973.055(1)(a)1. and 2. Therefore, the surcharge cannot be imposed simply by noting Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) on the judgment of conviction. Moreover, by labeling it as a

¹ Under Wis. Stat. § 973.09(2)(a)1.b., "a person convicted of a misdemeanor that was an act of domestic abuse is subject to two years of probation." *State v. Edwards*, 2013 WI App 51, ¶ 2, 347 Wis. 2d 526, 830 N.W.2d 109. However, it is not necessary that the underlying crime be charged as an act of domestic abuse in order for Wis. Stat. § 973.09(2)(a)1.b. to apply. *Edwards*, 347 Wis. 2d 526, ¶¶ 10, 14. Rather, in the context of probation, "[w]hether Edwards engaged in domestic abuse is a finding of fact for the trial court *at the time probation is imposed.*" *Edwards*, 347 Wis. 2d 526, ¶ 11 (emphasis added).

"surcharge," the Legislature denoted that Wis. Stat. §973.055 imposes a civil, not criminal liability. *See State v. Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, ¶ 17, 363 Wis. 2d 633, 866 N.W.2d 758. Therefore, the domestic abuse surcharge is a collateral consequence because it does not automatically flow from the conviction. *See, e.g., State v. Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, ¶ 7, 276 Wis. 2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543. Thus, the court is not required to inform a defendant of the potential imposition of the surcharge at the time of the defendant's plea to the underlying crime. *Id.*²

Striking Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) from the judgment of conviction would only be an act of appeasement to Brayson without any practical consequence. If this court chooses to grant Brayson's request to strike any reference to Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) from the judgment of conviction, it should be clear that its order to do so has no impact on Brayson's conviction, the imposition of the domestic abuse surcharge, or the use of Brayson's conviction to satisfy Wis. Stat. § 939.621 in the future. If this court disagrees and concludes that the notation of Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) in the judgment of conviction, in and of itself, has ramifications that the State is unaware of, then this court should deny Brayson's request because there was no defect within the plea colloquy that would entitle Brayson to plea withdrawal.

II. The circuit court properly ordered Brayson to pay the domestic abuse surcharge.

A. The domestic abuse definition and surcharge statute.

Wisconsin Stat. § 968.075 sets forth the definition of domestic abuse as follows:

968.075 Domestic abuse incidents; arrest and prosecution. (1) DEFINITIONS. In this section:
(a) "Domestic abuse" means any of the following engaged in by an adult person against his or her spouse or

² But see, State v. Kennedy, No. 2015AP475-CR, ¶ 8, unpublished slip op. (WI App. Sept. 29, 2015) (App. 106-112) (the notation of Wis. Stat. §968.075 requires the court to inform the defendant at the time of the plea that the offense pled to may subject the defendant to the domestic abuse assessment).

former spouse, against an adult with whom the person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the person has a child in common:

1. Intentional infliction of physical pain, physical injury or illness.

2. Intentional impairment of physical condition.

3. A violation of s. 940.225 (1), (2) or (3).

4. A physical act that may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in the conduct described under subd. 1., 2. or 3.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.055(1) states the domestic abuse surcharge in relevant part:

973.055 Domestic abuse surcharges. (1) If a court imposes a sentence on an adult person or places an adult person on probation, regardless of whether any fine is imposed, the court shall impose a domestic abuse surcharge under ch. 814 of \$100 for each offense if:

[....]

2. The court finds that the conduct constituting the violation under subd. 1. involved an act by the adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the adult person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the adult person has created a child.

B. There was an adequate factual basis to establish a qualifying relationship as to Brayson and L.R. for the domestic abuse statute.

Brayson is not disputing that he committed crimes that are enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1)(a)1 that would make him eligible for the imposition of the domestic abuse surcharge. (*See* Defendant-Appellant Brief at 7). Therefore, the sentencing court was required to impose the domestic abuse surcharge if the court found that Brayson's conduct "involved an act by the adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the adult person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the adult person has created a child." Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1)(a)2. That condition is substantially similar to the definition of the qualifying relationship for an act of domestic abuse under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a).

Brayson's argument is that the domestic abuse modifier was improperly applied because there was not a factual basis to determine that he "resided" with L.R.; thus, failing to establish the necessary qualifying relationship for "domestic abuse," as defined by statute. As previously discussed, "domestic abuse" is not a separate crime, it is a modifier that is attached to other offenses. Whether facts on the record qualify as "domestic abuse" under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) is a mixed question of both law and fact. *See State v. Schmidt*, 2004 WI App 235, ¶ 13, 277 Wis. 2d 561, 691 N.W.2d 379. While the court applies a "clearly erroneous" standard of review to a circuit court's factual findings, construction of a statute and its application to the facts, as found by a circuit court, is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. See *id*.

Brayson argues that his relationship with L.R., the woman whom he called his "fiancé," the woman whom he accompanied on cross country business trips while they stayed in the truck, is not factually sufficient to establish that he "resided" with her under the domestic abuse statute. (*See* Defendant-Appellant Brief at 8). While it is clear from the record that all parties agreed that Brayson and L.R. were engaged in an intimate partner relationship, Brayson argues that staying with and sleeping with L.R. in the cabin of her over the road truck while she would be on work trips is insufficient to show that they "resided" together for the purpose of the statute. (R30:3, 7,8, 13) (*See* Defendant-Appellant Brief at 8-9). The issue boils down to what does it mean to "reside" with another for the purpose of the domestic abuse modifier and surcharge.

Although neither statute at issue here defines the term "reside," a plain reading of the statute does not require more than the factual basis adopted in the complaint and clarified on the record by the court. Where the term is not defined in the statute, the court will give the term "its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 61, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143 (citation omitted).

The court may also consult dictionary definitions to ascertain any additional meanings of a word. *See State v. Sample*, 215 Wis. 2d 487, 499, 573 N.W.2d 187 (1998). According to a recognized legal dictionary, the intransitive verb "reside" as used in the present context means to: "Live, dwell, abide, sojourn, stay, remain, lodge." *Black's Law Dictionary*

1308 (6th ed. 1990). The circuit court also looked to Black's Law Dictionary to define "residence" as:

Place where one actually lives or has his home; a person's dwelling place or place of habitation; an abode; house where one's home is; a dwelling house. Personal presence at some place of abode with no present intention of definite and early removal and with purpose to remain for undetermined period, not infrequently, but not necessarily combined with design to stay permanently.

Black's Law Dictionary 907 (abridged 6th ed. 1990). (R21:3-4).

The circuit court made a factual finding that Brayson had committed acts of domestic abuse and that Brayson and L.R. resided together. (R30:16-17). The court found "this is a relationship that fits under the domestic abuse statute. You were girlfriend and boyfriend. You were romantically involved and I find that the truck was in fact your moving home that you shared together for significant periods of time throughout the year." (R30:16-17). In line with Blacks' legal definition, the court found Brayson's status with L.R. was sufficient to invoke the domestic abuse statute and surcharge.

Brayson attempts to discern the definition of "reside" in the context of the domestic abuse statute by merging an unrelated statutory definition of "residence" into its meaning. (See Defendant-Appellant Brief, 9). Brayson argues that the court could look to Wis. Stat. § 6.10(1) for guidance as that statue defines residence for the purpose of voting. (See Defendant-Appellant Brief at 9). Brayson also cites to other statutes, including Wis. Stat. § 55.01(6t) that defines a "residence" as "the voluntary concurrence of an individual's physical presence with his or her intent to remain in a place of fixed habitation." (See Defendant-Appellant Brief at 9). From this definition, Brayson argues that he lacked a "continuous residence" with L.R. to satisfy the residence requirement under Wis. Stat. § 968.075. (See Defendant-Appellant Brief at 10). But Brayson fails to articulate any persuasive legal basis for the additional specificity that he thinks is required. Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) does not incorporate Wis. Stat. § 6.10(1) nor Wis. Stat. § 55.01(6t) as a definition. If it was the Legislature's intent to limit the definition of "residence" in this way, the

Legislature would have done so. *See* Wis. Stat. § 943.20(2)(ac) (defining "Adult at risk" under Wisconsin's theft statute as the meaning derived in Wis. Stat. § 55.01.). Thus, Brayson's restrictive construction of the term "reside" is unsupported and inapplicable here.

There are strong public policy motives that support applying a broad, expansive, definition to the term "reside" in the context of domestic abuse cases. In the circuit court's decision Denying Post Conviction relief, it very eloquently discussed the legislative policy behind sections 968.075(1)(a)and 973.055(1), Stats. (R21:4). The court summarized that this legislation was enacted to recognize domestic violence as a significant social issue, which required a comprehensive response on levels both inside, and outside the criminal justice system. (R21:4). Initially, the legislation defined "domestic abuse" as "physical abuse or threats of physical abuse between persons living in a spousal relationship or persons who formally lived in a spousal relationship." Wis. Stat. § 46.95(1)(a) (1979-1980). (R21:5). But as time went on the definition of domestic violence became more expansive to embrace the different types of domestic relationships acknowledged by society today. (R21:5). At the heart of the "domestic abuse" modifier and surcharge is the desire to recognize, identify, and end, intimate partner violence. The incident that occurred between Brayson and L.R. was, without a doubt, intimate partner violence. It is this type of situation that the modifier and surcharge was designed to address.

The facts on the record support the circuit court's finding that Brayson and L.R. were in fact in a relation that qualifies for the "domestic abuse" modifier and surcharge. The criminal complaint established the factual basis for the relationship and it was clear at the sentencing hearing that Brayson and L.R. resided together. The State explained that L.R. was an over the road trucker for her employment and during the time she was working Brayson would accompany her in their moving home. (R30:4-5). Further, L.R.'s truck was equipped with sleeping quarters where her and Brayson would stay. (R30:5). Defense counsel discussed Brayson's relationship with L.R. in terms of years. (R30:8). Counsel also explained to the court that Brayson would travel with L.R. when she was on the road for her job, and that Brayson bought

the truck that he and L.R. stayed in while she worked. (R30:8-9). Additionally, Brayson himself told the court that L.R. was his fiancée. (R30:13). Thus, as the circuit court concluded, the qualifying relationship was firmly established.

Because a sufficient factual basis existed to support the domestic abuse statute, the circuit court correctly denied Brayson's postconviction motion to modify the judgment of conviction and vacate the domestic abuse surcharges.

CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully requests that this court affirm Brayson's judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying postconviction relief.